1997

Imperial Mobile Home Park, L.L.C. v. Michael Kelsch, personal representative to the estate of LaRue Griffin, deceased; Ruth Williamson; John Does 1 through 10 : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS

Inasmuch as the Utah Supreme Court has transferred the case, this Court has original jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j) (1996).

ISSUES PRESENTED AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

1. Whether the trial court erred by declaring that the mobile home park has the legal right to require any mobile home that is not at least 12 feet in width and 65 feet in length be removed from the park upon sale. (R. 493). STANDARD: Inasmuch as summary judgment is granted as a matter of law, this issue is reviewed by the appellate court for correctness. White v. Deseelhorst, 879 P.2d 1371, 1374 (Utah 1994). Accordingly, the appellate court accords no deference to the trial court's conclusion that the facts are not in dispute nor the court's legal conclusions based on those facts. Travelers Ins. Co. v. Kearl, 896 P.2d 644, 646 (Utah App. 1995). In addition, the appellate court will view the properly submitted evidence, and the facts and inferences thereby supported, in a light most favorable to the party opposing summary judgment. Id. at 647.

2. Whether the trial court erred by concluding that the Estate of LaRue Griffin, by and through Mr. Kelsch, could not be the successor of Mrs. Griffin's interest under her written lease agreement with the Park. (R. 498). STANDARD: Inasmuch as summary judgment is granted as a matter of law, this issue is reviewed by the appellate court for correctness. Deseelhorst, 879 P.2d at 1374.

3. Whether the trial court erred by concluding that the Estate, by and through Mr. Kelsch, had no implied lease agreement with the mobile home park because Mr. Kelsch has paid the rent for the mobile home lot through an independent third party rather than out of personal or

estate funds, and because no one is actually occupying the Griffin mobile home. (R. 497).

STANDARD: This issue presents a question of law, reviewed by the appellate court for correctness. See State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 935-36 (Utah 1994).

4. Whether the trial court erred by granting the Park summary judgment on Appellant's claim for violations of the Mobile Home Park Residency Act ("MHPRA"), holding that the Legislature has authorized mobile home parks to establish minimum size specifications for mobile homes; accordingly there can be no violation of the MHPRA, as a matter of law, resulting from a mobile home park's doing just that. (R. 494). STANDARD: Inasmuch as summary judgment is granted as a matter of law, this issue is reviewed by the appellate court for correctness.

Deseelhorst, 879 P.2d at 1374. Moreover, this issue depends on the construction of provisions of the MHPRA, presenting a question of law, which the appellate court reviews for correctness. See Durham v. Duchesne County, 893 P.2d 581, 584 (Utah 1995).

5. Whether the trial court erred by concluding that the Park's minimum size requirements are inherently reasonable as a matter of law and, therefore, the park rule regarding size specifications does not prevent or unreasonably limit the sale of a park resident's mobile home. (R. 490). STANDARD: Inasmuch as summary judgment is granted as a matter of law, this issue is reviewed by the appellate court for correctness. Deseelhorst, 879 P.2d at 1374; see also State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 935-36 (Utah 1994).

6. Whether the trial court erred by concluding that the Park's rule change establishing minimum size requirements is not unconscionable. (R. 492). STANDARD: This issue presents a question of law, reviewed by the appellate court for correctness. See Pena, at 935-36.

7. Whether the trial court erred by granting the Park summary judgment on Appellant's claim for breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing, concluding that, as a matter of law, there can be no violation of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing because the mobile home park was simply exercising express contractual rights left to its sole discretion. (R. 488).

STANDARD: This issue presents a question of law, dependent on the interpretation of binding case law, which issue the appellate court reviews for correctness. State v. Richardson, 843 P.2d 517, 518 (Utah App. 1992).

8. Whether the trial court erred by finding, either as a matter of undisputed fact or law, that it was reasonable for the mobile home park to absolutely refuse to allow any individual to sublet, lease, or occupy the Griffin mobile home on park premises even though the Park has allowed other tenants to do so. (R. 495). STANDARD: Inasmuch as summary judgment is granted as a matter of law, this issue is reviewed by the appellate court for correctness.

Deseelhorst, 879 P.2d at 1374.

9. Whether the trial court erred by granting the Park summary judgment on Appellant's claims for violations of the Utah Consumer Sales Practices Act ("UCSPA"), holding that the UCSPA does not apply to the leasing of lot spaces for mobile homes. (R. 478). STANDARD: Inasmuch as this issue depends on the construction of provisions of the UCSPA, it presents a question of law, which the appellate court reviews for correctness. See Durham, 893 P.2d at 584.

10. Whether the trial court erred by concluding that the Park has committed no unconscionable act or practice in connection with a consumer transaction within the meaning of the UCSPA. (R. 477). STANDARD: This issue presents a question of law, which the appellate court reviews for correctness. See Utah Code Ann. § 13-11-5(2); Durham, 893 P.2d at 584.

11. Whether the trial court erred by granting the Park summary judgment on Appellant's claim for intentional interference with economic relations because the Park had no duty of non-interference. (R. 484). STANDARD: Inasmuch as summary judgment is granted as a matter of law, this issue is reviewed by the appellate court for correctness. Deseelhorst, 879 P.2d at 1374.

12. Whether the trial court erred, by plain error or otherwise, in requiring the non-moving party in a motion for summary judgment to produce actual evidence to support all the elements of its claims when the moving party produced no evidence to controvert those claims and simply argued that the non-moving party's legal theories for recovery were inapplicable as a matter of law to this case. (R. 499). STANDARD: Inasmuch as summary judgment is granted as a matter of law, this issue is reviewed by the appellate court for correctness. Id.

13. Whether the trial court erred by concluding that Appellant has failed to reasonably mitigate his damages and that, as a matter of law, any claim for damages by Appellant is completely barred by a failure to reasonably mitigate damages. (R. 495). STANDARD: Inasmuch as summary judgment is granted as a matter of law, this issue is reviewed by the appellate court for correctness. Id.

CONTROLLING STATUTES, ORDINANCES, AND RULES

The following statutes are central to this appeal and their entire text is set forth verbatim in the addendum at Exhibit "I" (the MHPRA) and Exhibit "J" (the UCSPA), respectively.

Utah Code Ann. §§ 13-11-3(2), -3(5), -3(6), -5(1), -5(2) (1996).

Utah Code Ann. §§ 57-16-2, -3(3), -3(8), -4(4), -4(7), -5(5), -7 (1996).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case: This case on appeal involves the exercise of rights and obligations between a mobile home park, as landlord, and a resident mobile home owner, as tenant. It further involves the questionable conduct and methods of a mobile home park in exercising its rights to the detriment of the home owner and seeking to constructively evict the tenant by, among other claims, unreasonably limiting the sale of the tenant's mobile home and preventing the estate of a deceased tenant from residing in the mobile home.

II. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in Trial Court: Imperial Mobile Home Park ("Park") filed a complaint against Michael Kelsch, personal representative of the estate of LaRue Griffin ("Estate"), and Ruth Williamson, seeking declaratory judgment in the District Court that the MHPRA authorizes a mobile home park owner to require the removal of a mobile home from the park upon sale where the mobile home is less than 65 feet in length, as established by a newly adopted park rule. (R.1-4). The Park later amended its complaint, claiming the Estate's and Williamson's mobile homes were not exempted from the minimum size specifications established by the Park, even though, the Park acknowledged that other undersized mobile homes were excluded from the size rule. (R. 49-50).

The Estate and Williamson filed an answer to the amended complaint and asserted counter-claims and third-party claims against the Park, its owners and managers, for breach of contract; violation of the MHPRA; breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing; intentional interference with economic relations; violations of the Utah Fair Housing Act, the Federal Fair Housing Act, and the UCPSA; punitive damages; and injunctive relief. (R. 78). The Park, its owners, and managers, filed a reply and answer to the counterclaims and third party complaint. Prior to trial, the Park filed a motion for summary judgment and a supporting

memorandum on all issues. (R. 158, 293). The Estate and Williamson opposed the motion with memoranda, affidavits and deposition excerpts. (R. 506). At the close of oral arguments, the Court granted the Park's motion for summary judgment. (R. 758). The Court, on motion of the Park, subsequently entered Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law and the Judgment. (R. 676-678); copies of which are attached as Exhibits "D" and "E" of the Addendum. The Estate now appeals from the Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law and the Judgment granting the park's declaratory relief and dismissing some of the Estate's counterclaims.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

LaRue Griffin, entered into a written lease agreement with the Park in February 1972. (R. 248); a copy of which is attached at Exhibit "C" in the Addendum. In May 1996, LaRue Griffin died and Michael Kelsch was appointed personal representative of her estate. (R. 227). Mr. Kelsch subsequently received a letter from the Park dated June 10, 1996, requesting payment of rent and requiring removed of the mobile home when sold (R. 215-216), a copy of which is attached as Exhibit "A" of the Addendum. From Mrs. Griffin's death up to the present, Mr. Kelsch has been causing the rent to be paid to the Park for the mobile home lot (R. 311), but has not been allowed to have a caretaker or subtenant live in the mobile home (R. 310, 697-99) despite the park manager's acknowledgment that an unoccupied mobile home poses a safety hazard (R. 379) and that the Park has permitted other renters to have "housesitters" as an accommodation. (R. 376-377). The Park has further indicated that the Park will not allow a subtenant because the mobile home is undersized and must be moved out on sale. (R. 243-45). The mobile home is 13'10" in width and 63'4" in length. (R. 244, 546).

The Park has represented that the only reason Mrs. Griffin's mobile home must be removed upon sale has "nothing to do with its condition" (R. 379), but is because the home does not meet the minimum size specifications as set forth in the amended 1994 park rules. (R. 378), a copy of which Rules are attached as Exhibit "B" of the Addendum. Prior to 1994, no park rule existed setting forth any minimum size requirement. (R. 245). When the new rules were promulgated, the Park was aware that some lots were too small to fit a mobile home meeting the minimum sizes. (R. 243). In addition, the Park has made exceptions to the size rule after its implementation, allowing the park owner to sell an undersized mobile home and allow it to remain in the Park upon sale (R. 386, 242). The Park has also failed to measure each and every mobile home being sold, thus "mistakenly" allowing at least one undersized mobile home to remain in the park upon sale. (R. 239-243).

Mr. Kelsch has received an appraisal valuing the Griffin mobile home at \$15,450 (R. 313), and he has received offers to purchase the home for \$15,000 to \$16,000 (R. 311). The only offer he has received from someone who would move the home from the Park was for \$8,000 (R. 222-23).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Summary judgment was improvidently granted by the trial court in this case. When this Court views the facts and inferences in favor of the Estate, and construes and interprets the relevant statutory provisions and applicable case law, it will become clear that the Park is not entitled to judgment as a matter of law on its action for declaratory relief or on the Estate's claims raised for violations of the MHPRA, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, violations of the UCSPA, and intentional interference with economic relations.

The Estate is entitled to raise claims as a lessee and a resident of the Park. The evidence before the trial court supports a finding that the Estate was the successor in interest to Mrs. Griffin's written lease agreement with the Park. In any event because the mobile home is occupying lot #119 within the Park and rent is being paid to the Park, a lease should at least be implied by law. Moreover, the Estate qualifies as a resident of the Park under the MHPRA.

Sections 57-16-4(4), -4(7), and -7(1) of the Utah Code are not clear and unambiguous, but capable of more than one interpretation. Moreover, there is some uncertainty as to how these provisions should be construed together. In referring to minimum size specifications in the MHPRA, it seems likely that the legislature intended to adopt some uniform size specifications for mobile homes. Even if parks have some discretion to set and enforce size specifications, that statutory discretion is not absolute and unfettered. With every right the MHPRA gives to a mobile home park, it imposes a corresponding obligation on the park to protect its tenants. When properly considering the economic conditions, it becomes clear that the evidence supports a finding that the Park's rule in this case unreasonably limits the sale of the Griffin mobile home. In addition, the Park's rule change adopting the size requirements is both procedurally and substantively unconsonable, as defined by relevant case law.

Furthermore, even though the Park has the contractual right to withhold approval for a subtenant or housesitter to reside in the Griffin mobile home, it may not unreasonably or in bad faith withhold that approval. Accordingly, the evidence on the record could support a finding that the Park has unreasonably refused to permit anyone to reside in the mobile home, in violation of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing. Moreover, when considered in light of other facts, it

would appear that the Park is trying to constructively evict the mobile home, also a breach of good faith and fair dealing.

In addition, according to the plain language of the UCSPA, the leasing of lot spaces for mobile homes to mobile home owners is a consumer transaction, and the Park is accountable for unconscionable acts or practices committed in connection with that consumer transaction. Also, the Park has interfered with potential sales of the mobile home, unconditionally refusing to approve any purchaser who wants to remain in the Park. Because the Park has violated provisions of the MHPRA and the UCSPA in so interfering, the Park can be found liable for intentional interference with economic relations.

Finally, the trial court erred by requiring the Estate to produce sufficient actual evidence to support its claims when the Park produced no evidentiary challenge to the claims preserved on appeal, but instead argued that the Estate's legal theories must fail as a matter of law.

ARGUMENT

"Summary judgment is appropriate only when no genuine issues of material fact exist and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Glover v. Boy Scouts of Am., 923 P.2d 1383, 1385 (Utah 1996) (emphasis added); see also Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). Inasmuch as summary judgment is granted as a matter of law, the trial court's ruling is reviewed for correctness. White v. Deseelhorst, 879 P.2d 1371, 1374 (Utah 1994). Accordingly, the appellate court accords no deference to the trial court's conclusion that the facts are not in dispute, nor the court's legal conclusions based on those facts. Travelers Ins. Co. v. Kearl, 896 P.2d 644, 646 (Utah App. 1995). Finally, all

[d]oubts, uncertainties or inferences concerning issues of fact must be construed in a light most favorable to the party opposing summary judgment. Litigants must be able to present their cases fully to the court before judgment can be rendered against them unless it is obvious . . . that the party opposing judgment can establish no right to recovery.

Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Atkin, Wright & Miles, 681 P.2d 1258, 1261 (Utah 1984)

(footnotes omitted).

The trial court's ruling in the present case contains several "findings" which are either not supported by any evidence in the record, are genuinely disputed, are not being viewed in favor of the Estate, or are not relevant and do not support a judgment in favor of the Park. Moreover, proper resolution of just the legal issues raised in this case, without even addressing the factual disputes, would not entitle the Park to judgment as a matter of law on the Park's declaratory action and on the Estate's claims for violations of the MHPRA, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, violations of the UCSPA, and intentional interference with economic relations. Accordingly, this Court should reverse the trial court and set aside the summary judgment with respect to these claims.

I. The Trial Court Erred by Concluding the Estate Has No Lease Agreement With the Park Because Mr. Kelsch Is Not the One Actually Paying the Rent and Because No One Is Actually Residing in the Griffin Mobile Home.

Several of the Estate's claims depend upon whether it, or Mr. Kelsch, as its personal representative, qualifies as a "resident" of the Park for purposes of the MHPRA, and whether it is able to enforce the provisions of LaRue Griffin's lease with the Park. If the trial court had properly interpreted and applied the applicable law---and not weighed the evidence but rather

viewed it in a light most favorable to the Estate--it should have concluded that Mr. Kelsch or the Estate was, and still is, a resident of the Park and a successor under Mrs. Griffin's lease.

While the trial court made no express ruling on this issue--neither at the hearing or in the written findings and conclusions--it did make findings: (1) that Mr. Kelsch does have certain rights under the Park's June 10, 1996 letter; but also (2) that Mr. Kelsch has never himself paid any rent to the Park; (3) that the rent has been paid by The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints (LDS church); (4) that neither Mr. Kelsch or the Estate have no obligation to repay the LDS Church; (5) that Mr. Kelsch has never physically possessed or inhabited the Griffin mobile home; and (6) that the mobile home has remained vacant since Mrs. Griffin's death.¹

Moreover, the trial court expressly adopted all of the Park's reasoning as presented in its memoranda to the Court. Certainly, the Park has repeatedly asserted the position that neither Mr. Kelsch nor the Estate has an actual lease agreement with the Park and that neither can be considered a resident of the Park. Nevertheless, any such conclusion is in error, and the Park is not entitled to judgment as a matter of law on this point.

A. The Griffin lease agreement was assigned to the Estate.

It is undisputed that Mrs. Griffin had a valid, written lease agreement with the Park, a copy is attached as Exhibit "C" of the Addendum. Logically, when she died, either that lease was terminated, or else the lease was transferred to her estate. A review of the evidence before the trial court supports a finding that the lease was assigned to the Estate and not terminated.²

¹ The trial court may have correctly concluded that these last five facts are not disputed, but the Estate does dispute the relevance or legal effect of those facts.

² In fact, even the Park's legal counsel admitted at the summary judgment hearing: "I think I would have to concede the point that the June 10th letter does create some sort of lease with

First and foremost, it is undisputed the mobile home was allowed to remain on lot #119 in the Park and that the Park continued to accept monthly rent for the lot space. Those facts alone would tend to support a finding that Mrs. Griffin's lease was not terminated. In addition, the Park never sent a notice of termination of the lease or an eviction notice to Mr. Kelsch, nor the Estate; instead, the Park sent the June 10th letter indicating the Park's position that the mobile home will "have to be removed by the buyer upon sale" and notifying him of the amount of rent due for June and indicates that the \$20.00 late charge will not be assessed, and that no "further action" will be taken, if the rent is paid in full by June 15. (Emphasis added.)

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