1997

# Imperial Mobile Home Park, L.L.C. v. Michael Kelsch, personal representative to the estate of LaRue Griffin, deceased; Ruth Williamson; John Does 1 through 10 : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

The Legislature has given mobile home parks the exclusive authority to set minimum size requirements. The parks in this State have a vested interest in the upkeep and quality of the Parks by requiring removal of mobile homes, even if they are in excellent condition, but undersized. The Legislature's giving the broad and express discretion to the Park to set its own standards would otherwise limit the Park's ability to conduct its own affairs.

The authority granted by the Legislature is not without limit as implied by the Appellant. The Legislative authority is limited in the sense that the Park may only require removal upon the sale of a mobile for two (2) distinct reasons: (1) undersized according to the Park's minimum standards; and (2) rundown condition or in disrepair. U.C.A. 57-16-4(7) If neither of the two criteria apply, the tenant may sell the home and leave it in the Park.

This is a matter of pure contract interpretation, and what rights and obligations exist between the parties. The Appellant has never before raised the issue of whether Mr. Kelsch enjoyed the full benefit of the Griffin leasehold. In fact, it is undisputed that Mr. Kelsch was only attempting to enforce, albeit by his own interpretation, the June 10, 1996, letter he received from the park's management. [R.227-225]. There is but one interpretation that attaches to the subject letter; i.e. when you sell the home, it must be moved. Reasonable minds cannot differ on that concept.

The original Griffin lease was never brought into this matter as extending any rights to Mr. Kelsch. This is a new issue that Mr. Kelsch has now raised to somehow bolster his argument. The lower court did not simply ignore the Griffin lease as suggested by Appellant. The matter was not completely plead and Mr. Kelsch, by his own admission, only relied upon the June 10, 1996 letter agreement. [R.227-225]. Nor was it the duty or obligation of the Court to make rulings for the Appellant that were not raised.

When the chaff is whittled away in this matter, the singular issue is whether the park has the statutory authority to set its own minimum size requirements for mobile homes in the Park. Once that issue is resolved, the Appellant's counterclaims melt away by the application of well grounded legal principles. This matter was resolved as a matter of law

based upon the admissions of Mr. Kelsch, the size of the mobile home in question, and the June 10, 1996, letter Mr. Kelsch considered as his lease with the Park, nothing more.

## ARGUMENT

### Standards governing motions for summary judgment.<sup>2</sup>

Appellant misconstrues the nature and effect of the standards governing motions for summary judgment. By its definition, summary judgment does not resolve factual issues, but is directed to issues of material fact to which no dispute remains. Appellant's statement that he still refutes the Park's legal contentions is not sufficient to raise a factual dispute. The Appellant was obligated to go beyond the pleadings and allegations and point to the record or evidence to demonstrate the existence of a factual dispute.

The purpose of a motion for summary judgment is to expedite procedure and obviate trials where no genuine issue of fact exists. Krantz v. Holt, 819 P.2d 352 (Utah 1991); Ulibarri v. Christenson, 275 P.2d 170, 171 (Utah 1954). Cases decided on summary judgment cannot, by definition, resolve factual disputes. Schurtz v. BMW of North America, Inc., 814 P.2d 1108 (Utah 1991). Judgment can be properly rendered against a party where it is obvious from the evidence that the party opposing judgment can establish no right to relief. Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co., 681 P.2d at 1261 (Utah 1984).

---

<sup>2</sup> Throughout Appellant's argument, he complains that the "Park raised only a legal challenge...rather than a factual one." [Aplt.Br. 23, 32] Summary judgment does not resolve factual issues, but does ferret out the undisputed facts which lead to conclusions of law. There are no genuine issues of disputed material fact in this matter. Bonham v. Morgan, 788 P.2d 497, 499 (Utah 1989) [a challenge to summary judgment presents for review conclusions of law only, because, by definition, summary judgments do not resolve factual issues].

Even when viewed in a light most favorable to the Appellant, he has not established a right to prevail in this matter since there are no remaining issues. Despite Appellants urgency, the issues he considers as disputed are neither material nor genuine. See Dupler v. Yates 10 Utah 2d 251, 351 P.2d 624 (1960) [where opposing party fails to proffer any evidentiary matter when he is presumably in a position to do so, the courts should be justified in concluding that no genuine issue of fact is present, nor would one be present at the trial.].

Generally, a fact is considered to be "material" where it affects the rights or liabilities of the parties. An issue is "genuine" as to any material fact when all facts which affect the rights or liabilities of the parties are so conclusively shown that there is not the slightest doubt, and in order to sustain a judgment, such facts must show that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. Holland v. Columbia Iron Mining Co., 4 Utah 2d 303, 293 P.2d 700 (1956)(dissenting opinion)(citations omitted).

**I. The trial court made no finding that the Estate had a lease, because the Appellant never asked the Court to make such a ruling. The trial court did rule that Mr. Kelsch had certain rights under the June 10, 1996 letter.**

Here, Appellant suggests that the lower court erred by concluding that the Estate had no lease agreement with the Park. Appellant boldly states that "*[w]hile the trial court made no express ruling on this issue---*" [Aplt.Brief at 11], he does not refer to the record for any support where the trial court ignored his request to make such a ruling. There simply is no record that Appellant raised that contention at any time.

Appellant has set forth in sub-paragraphs "A-C", argument designed to create the impression that the Estate's lease was controlling, assigned, or in effect and enforceable.

Despite this rendition of what appear to be properly raised issues at the lower level, are, in fact, new arguments. These matters should be disregarded by the Court on its review.

Notwithstanding the newly raised matters, assuming, *arguendo*, that the Griffin full lease was at issue, the same size restrictions would have applied and the same result reached. The argument is nonsensical to the extent that the eventual outcome was that if the mobile home was to be sold, it had to be removed, no matter who sold it or in what capacity.

The trial court did make a specific finding that Mr. Kelsch had certain rights as the personal representative of the Griffin estate pursuant to the June 10, 1996, letter. [R.670]. The issue of whether the Griffin lease ever gave Mr. Kelsch rights beyond the June 10, 1996, letter was never raised.

There is but one interpretation for the June 10, 1996, letter upon which Mr. Kelsch bases his case; the mobile home must be removed upon its sale. There is no other reason for Mr. Kelsch's involvement in the Griffin estate, but to sell the mobile home, and he always intended to sell the mobile home. He was initially told the home had to be removed from the park upon its sale. [Aplt.Add. "A"] There is no other reasonable explanation, and Mr. Kelsch has offered none. If he believed that the June 10, 1996, letter gave him further rights, he should have made those factual arguments below. The eight causes of action plead by Mr. Kelsch concern purely matters of law and statutory construction as explained below.

Mr. Kelsch's fervor to create a lease with the Park would really give him no other rights than any other tenant who desired to sell their home, especially where the home does not comply with the Park Rules on size. Appellee has previously argued:

**Even assuming, arguendo, that Mr. Kelsch is the beneficiary of a lease agreement, Mr. Kelsch is nevertheless bound by the terms of the lease requiring removal of the home on its sale. No other interpretation can be advanced absent an ambiguity in the contract. Mr. Kelsch has not defended on the basis of an ambiguity in the June 10, 1996, letter. Assuming no ambiguity exists, Mr. Kelsch's claims for breach fail. [R.566].**

Appellant's reliance on the case of Consolidated Realty Group v. Sizzling Platter, Inc., 930 P.2d 268 (Utah App. 1996) is misplaced. Mr. Kelsch has neither "entered" nor "occupied" the subject Griffin mobile home, and, in fact, has not even paid the rent on the subject home. The mobile home was devised to the LDS Church, but the Church has not entered in this matter. Mr. Kelsch was a former Bishop of the Church and caused rent to be paid from the Church fast-offering fund. Mr. Kelsch, in his ecclesiastical position executed one of the drafts from the Church to pay the rent. [R.535]. Mr. Kelsch was acting in a dual capacity; i.e. for the Church and for the Griffin estate. The LDS Church has not yet asserted its property interest in the mobile home.

The Consolidated test relied upon by Appellant requires **both** occupancy and payment of rent. Mr. Kelsch essentially satisfies neither requirement. Mr. Kelsch simply cannot create a lease and demand fruit from an otherwise barren tree. This is not a matter of lease termination or eviction, but enforcement of the rules.

Appellant's first issue on appeal is essentially moot, because the lower court did rule that Mr. Kelsch enjoyed the benefit of an agreement with the Park pursuant to the June 10, 1996, letter. Mr. Kelsch never raised the specific issue below that he was the "successor" of

the Griffin lease. Even if he was, he would be subject to the same conditions set forth in the letter.

Mr. Kelsch has unequivocally conceded that his only claim that a lease exists is based upon three (3) facts: (1) the June 10, 1996, letter; (2) he has paid rent; and (3) the home has remained in the Park. [R.504, ¶12]. Technically speaking, the Park only wants the mobile home removed when it is sold, which is the extent of its authority under the challenged statute. The existence of some sort of a "lease" is undisputed, and Mr. Kelsch is simply arguing to argue.

**II. No Error Was Committed By The Trial Court In Ruling, As A Matter Of Law, That The Mobile Home Park Residency Act Authorizes Parks To Set And Enforce Minimum Size Specifications.**

Appellant's threshold argument is that the mobile home park's rule establishing minimum size specifications is invalid, void and unenforceable as a result of the manner in which the rule was adopted, the unreasonable requirements it imposes on park residents, and the inconsistent manner in which the rule is applied throughout the park. The thrust, therefore, of the Appellant's argument on appeal rises or falls upon the initial inquiry of whether the mobile home parks of this State have been granted discretionary authority to set minimum size requirements. The answer to that question is a simple "yes." Appellant has previously conceded the point, wherein he stated in opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment:

**"Thus, although the MHPRA does give parks the authority to set minimum size specifications and to require undersized mobile homes to move from the park upon sale,...."**

[R.490] See also Appellant's Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Summary Affirmance, pg. 6, footnote 3 ["Mr. Kelsch has never challenged the validity or constitutionality of Section 57-16-4(7)"]. Appellant's only contention otherwise is where there has been an alleged violation of "other provisions of the Act." [R.490]. Assuming such to be true, which Appellee asserts is a contrary interpretation of the Legislative intent, there has been no showing that any other provision of the Act has been violated here.

Appellant's request for this Court to determine what laws are reasonable to enforce creates a separation of powers problem. While it is the judiciary's responsibility to determine the constitutionality of the laws, Dean v. Rampton, 556 P.2d 205, 206-07 (Utah 1976) (citing Marbury v. Madison, 1 Cranch 137, 2 L.Ed. 60 (1803); State v. Betensen, 14 Utah 2d 121, 378 P.2d 669 (1963)), it is not within the province of the Courts to merely answer whether the laws are reasonable. Determining whether a particular law is reasonable is an invasion of the Legislature's jurisdiction to enact such laws. The Supreme Court has previously stated that "*[i]t is not our prerogative to question the wisdom, social desirability, or public policy underlying a given statute. Those are matters left exclusively to the legislature's judgment and determination.*" Condemarin v. University Hosp., 775 P.2d 348, 377 (Utah 1989) (Hall, J., dissenting) (citations omitted); accord Masich v. United States Smelting, Ref. & Mining Co., 113 Utah 101, 126-27, 191 P.2d 612, 625, appeal dismissed, 335 U.S. 866, 69 S. Ct. 138 (1948); Utah Manufacturers' Ass'n v. Stewart, 82 Utah 198, 23 P.2d 229, 232 (1933) ("fairly debatable questions as to reasonableness, wisdom, or propriety [of legislative action] are not for the courts, but for the Legislature"). Thus, it is violative of the



principle of separation of powers to allow the courts to determine whether it is reasonable to enforce any law duly passed by the legislature.

The Appellant argues that mobile home parks have Legislative authority to set minimum size requirements, but that the authority is only valid so long as no other provisions of the MHPRA are violated. [Aplt.Br. at 17]. In other words, as long as the Park does not violate any other provision of the MHPRA, it may properly require removal of a home upon its sale that is not in compliance with the minimum size requirements of the park.

Assuming such an approach, absent a showing on the part of the Appellant that the Park has violated other provisions of the MHPRA, Appellant would, arguably, concede his position with respect to the threshold issue before this Court. Appellant has not marshalled any evidence or inferences to support a showing that the Park has violated any such other rule or law. In support of this position, he simply suggests that the Park has violated Section 57-16-4(4), U.C.A., wherein the minimum size rule operates to limit or prevent the sale of the subject mobile home. No such "limiting" effect has occurred.

Typically, factual disputes are raised by sworn statements. See Holbrook Co. v. Adams, 542 P.2d 191 (Utah 1975) [party may not rely on allegations in his pleadings to defeat a motion for summary judgment]; Thornock v. Cook, 604 P.2d 934 (Utah 1979) [defendant cannot rely on mere allegations or denials... to avoid a summary judgment]; Clarkson v. Western Heritage, Inc., 627 P.2d 72 (Utah 1981) [Rule 56(e) requires opposing affidavit in order to create a genuine issue of material fact, and does not permit party to assert his pleading to create a disputed fact issue].

Appellant's "evidence" on this issue is limited to the allegation the Park would not approve applications for residency in the Park by potential purchasers of the subject home. [R.490]. The denial of an application for residency may be made for several reasons, and the Appellant has not proffered any evidence, affidavit, or foundation to even suggest that the Park denied the applications to prevent the sale of the subject mobile home. [R.244]. There simply is no evidence. Appellant is required to go beyond his pleadings and allegations, and point to specific instances of conduct, which he cannot do. Rule 56, U.R.C.P.

The Appellant's inconsistent argument clearly demonstrates the strained factual basis upon which he asserted eight (8) counterclaims against the Park. The Park attempted to work with Appellant, but he maintained that he could leave the home in the Park after it was sold, which is contrary to the express language of the June 10, 1996, letter. He had nothing to gain from the sale and yet maintained a lengthy litigation at the cost of the estate. The expenses now far exceed the value the mobile home even if it were to remain.<sup>3</sup>

**A. Interpretation and construction of Section 57-16-4(7)**

This entire argument submitted by the Appellant has never before been raised in this case. Appellant refers to "Audio Tape Recordings" concerning Utah Senate Bill No. 209. [Aplt.Br. pg. 18]. First, this argument and the references to the audio tapes was not raised below and may not properly be considered as part of the record on this appeal. James v. Preston, 746 P.2d 799, 801 (Utah App. 1987)[matters not put in issue before the trial court

---

<sup>3</sup> It should be noted that Mr. Kelsch had a buyer for the Griffin mobile home in an amount that would have satisfied the debts of the estate, but he did not pursue the offer. [R.223-221].

may not be raised for the first time on appeal]. The Appellant is supplementing the record and argument with matters raised for the first time.

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